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In 1863 VIis1ıt W as paıd Marıa 1n Trastevere by Pope 1US
According CONtEMPOFrarYy ACCOUNT, the Pope W as duly impressed by the
basılica’s ancıent splendor, but equally by 1tSs PresCcNt squalor On the SPOL,
IT 9 he decided SpONSOTF restoratıon. superv1ısıng commı1ssıon
headed by ard Teodolto Mertel W as quickly appointed, and the design and
executıon of the projJect WiERE entrusted the archıtect Count Vıirgini0 Ve-
spıgnanı. Of maJor COMCETN W as the m  9 whıiıch, tor all the riıchness
of 1ts marbles, presented LW “deplorable iındecencıes”: 1ts surface W as very
UNCVEI, being considerably hıgher Ahe the estern end: and, partly because
o thıs irregularıty, It covered everal of the bases ın the ANVC colonnades
TWanı 5a)

The offending westfern portion oft the MENT, cCOoNsıstiNg of central
Canon Gioacchino Cressedi, Diarıo de: lavorı dı re. dı decorazıone

Basılıca d Marıa ın Trastevere nel Pontificato d: Pıo Agosto 18653; Marıa 1n
Trastevere, Archivio Capitolare (Arch Cap SMT)), Arm 1L, Binder: Storia della Basıilıca,
A l of the archıval material here published, including the drawıng, W as discovere:
1n 1970—72 durıng research ftor dissertatıon Ior New York Universıity, Instı-
LUfe ot Fıne Arts) the hıstory of S. Marıa 1n TIrastevere. The Capitular Archive W as

opened by the INOST. ZraC10us kındness of Msgre Sılverio Matteı. At the tıme 1t W 45

housed 1n ot the basılıca ; all shelt numbers y1ven here pertaın, faute de MLEUX,
that locatıion. AaVve NOLT SGEN the Archive 1n iIts NCW ar  9 the Vıcarıato.

VeLY grateful the tollowıng instiıtutiOns for the financial SUPPOTFL which made
STaYy 1n Rome, an the present article, possıible: the Commissıone Amerıcana pCI olı

Scambı Culturali GÜ °Italıa (Fulbright-Hays Grant, 1969—70), the Kress Foundatıon,
the Natıonal Gallery 1n Washington (Chester Dale Fellowship, 1970—71), the American
Academy 1n Rome Specıial thanks Aı warmly extended Prot. Rıchard Krautheimer
tor hıs invaluable assıstance Man y tronts.

Cressedi, Dıiıarıo, Aprile 1865 C Non S1 AMHGOLra un risoluzione abbassare
il plano del pavımento, livellandolo, nche perche apparıscano le ıntiıere 4ası delle colonne,
V1 SOMNNO delle difficolt  A,  AX torse S1 poträ concılıare la CSa 1n modo che bastı A  4aSSAare Ia
porzıone soltanto del pavımento Z  p1u prossıma alla trıbuna, la quale mol!to pu alta della
altra porzıone del pavımento; Os1 S1 livellerebbe I’intiero pl1ano, 61 eviterebbe molta D  9

alcune almeno delle A4ası S1 potrebbero intıeramente scuoprire.” CR the letter by Fran-
Tongiorgı ate: 13 October 1865, Ar  S- Cap SMT, Arm DGF Binder: Restaurı dı

Pıo Livellato 11 pavımento, acquisterebbe molto l’aula della basılica dal
lato artıst1co monumentale, oltre allo scomparıre dı que1 due SCONC1 deploratı,

AS1 sepolte della irregolarıita del pl1ano Aftfter considerable discussıon It W as,
1ın fact, decided the entıire lower level Cressedi1; Diıarıo, Agosto
1866
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pathway of Cosmatesque-style roundels surrounded by plaın inscribed
marble plaques, W as removed by February of 1865 Many of the plaques
turned OUuUt be trom medieval schola(the toundatıions
of whiıch W.GNG discovered immediately under the OOr The destruction of
that enclosure (probably ın the sixteenth centurYy) MUST 2Ve een the
of the higher level AL thıs en of the basılica. The precıinct walls
WEITIC dismantled theır foundatıions, but the pavıngz of the schola the swath
of roundels), whiıch stood least step 1above the surrounding OOr of the
NAaVC, W as preserved. The toundations WEeIC concealed by Jayıng the
face oOWwn SM the level of the roundels, creatiıng NCW, higher
h'‘ch extended the tull wıdth of the AaVe and throngh the colonnades, where
IT enveloped of the bases

The discovery of the schola W as remarked by e Rossı 1n hıs
Bullettino of 1865, and agaın, wiıth briet descr1ption, 1ın 1866 Declining

discuss the Ainds 1ın detaıil, he noted that they WEeIiIC being carefully recorded
and drawn by Vespignanı. De Rossı perhaps envisaged full publication of
the sıte when the records WEeIC complete, but such publication W 4S made
Additional discoveries 1n 1867 and 1869 received publiıc not1ice, and fur-
ther archeological study W 4S precluded by the completion of the 11Cc DaVvV C-

in 18741 Cecchell; and Krautheimer, the only modern scholars
themselves wıth the archeology of Marıa, had A4ase theır COMN-

clusions De Rossı's SUMMALY sketch

Cressedi, Dıarıo, 18 Febbrai0 1865
Ibid 1 INAanNnO al pavımento DNAaVe mag toglıiendo le LranseNnN«e

antıca Schola Cantorum le qualıi 4] tormavano del pavımento nella
porzıone prossıma alla TIrıbuna V1ICINO alle colonne, mentire nel esiste un altra
porzıone esegulta a1l’ Alessandrina che formava 11 plano della Schola Cantorum chiusa

LranseNNE C100 S1 verificato dı fatto, yiacche tolte le SU: Lransenne S1 SONO

ınvenute le INULA dı tondamento, che SO le Lransenne glı ambon:i, 1n ZU1SAa che
apparısce la planta della nomınata Schola Cantorum degli ambon1. Inoltre SONO

le AasSsı intiıere di varıe forme delle colonne, le qualiı AS1 piu mMmenO

Coperte dal pl1ano del pavımento
®ır Tat 54 The VICW and plans of Marıa 1n Trastevere by Letarouilly chow

border of interlocking roundels around this part of the €  9 between the plaques and
the colonnades (Paul Letarouilly, Edifices de Rome moderne M Parıs: 1874, pl 527
hıs IMUST be reconstructl1on, extrapolated trom the border which survıved the eastern,
les disturbed end of the NAaVC, visıble ın Tat. 54 The estern Part of the border WwW.as lost
wiıth the destruction of the schola Gıf NOL betore.

0 Giovannı Battısta De Rossı, “Notıiızıe. Roma Basıliıca dı s. Marıa 1n Irastevere”,
Bullettino dı archeologia Crıstiana, J; 1865, p. 24; “Notizıe. Roma Scoperte nella
basılica dı Marıa 1n TIrastevere”, ıbid., I  y 1866,

The IMUST ave een nıshed by A August WSZ when 1t W as guaranteed
by the jet mOSsa1CISt, Pıetro Palesı: Arch Cap SMT, Arm Aul Binder: Restauryı dı Pıo
It W 45 still incomplete 1n February of 1570 Cressed\1. Diıarıo, Febbraio 1870

Carlo Cecchelli; Marıa ın rastevere (dce Chiese dı Roma illustrate, Za
Rome, SC 31—35; Rıchard Krautheimer, Spencer Corbett and Wolfgang Frankl,; Cory-
DuS Basıliıcarum Christianarum Romae, I: atıcan City, 196/, 65 (D CSP Z
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The Capitular Archive of Marıa 1ın Irastevere PreSCerVesS wealth of
bılls, memoranda, letters, an other documents pertaınıng the restoratıons
of 1US Among thıs mater1a|l 15 ground plan of the AVvVe (Taf 6a,
hıch C4a  } only be the drawıng 0)8 ONe of the drawıings made during the
excavatıon by Vespignanı Aa alluded by De Rossı 1 The foundatıons,
avemen(ts, A other details recorded the plan coincıde exactly wıth the
discoverıes of 186569 A outlıned by De Rossı amı by other, independent
un  9 the ımportant ot whıch 15 the diary oft the restoratıons by the
Canon Gioacchino Cressedi, also preserved 1n the Archive. Moreover, the
plan 15 unquestionably in Vespignanı’s prec1se, meticulous, and finely honed
style 11 It 15 drawn wiıth fine, hard pencıl cheet of heavy, high-quality

measurıng C 20l It has een colored iın black, pale blue,
SICCN, an everal chades of STay The scale 15 peculıar 12 Though probably
intended 45 I11., OT 19100 when measured wıth modern rule it 1ts

ıke 1:8  un The anomaly Oes NOT, however, SECIMN reflect An V INACCU-
FaCcY Vespignanı’s Part, either ın hıs x MeASsuUurements OT 1n hıs scalıng.
Whenever hıs eAsUuremMeNtTS Can be verified, they be COTTEC 13

The drawıng 15 unfinished, an AT clearly visıble toward the
LOPD, in the ATCAa framed by the broken semicırcle of the APSC. Vespignanı

'IThe documentatıon will be analyzed an correlated 1n dissertatıon, cited
SUDYTA, Dn hope publish the INOTEC ıimportant ıtems 1n monograph the basılica.

10 Arch Cap SM  9 Arm Folio bınder Dıagrammata aedificio0r. alqgue praedior.
ä Gf% tor example, the plan and siıgned elevatıon of Ivo dei Bretton1 1n the

Bıblioteca Nazıonale di Storia dell’Arte, Rome Raccolta Lancıanı, Roma CC 38 X
Besıides revealıng the SAaIllCc drawıng style A the plan ot Marıa, the Ivo plan makes

comparable record ot several superimposed Strata, and 15 similarly olored (black and
lıght blue; there 15 Iso LUOSC tint NOT used tor Marıa).

The oddıty of the scale W as first noticed by Frank Brown, whose patıent and
sensıitive observatıon of the plan greatly nriched OW understandıng of UE Many
valuable suggest10ns made by hım an by others have een incorporated into the iınter-
pretatıon oftered here; SOINEC WEeiC fundamental that it 15 longer possible, untortu-
nately, extricate and acknowledge them individually. In addition Prot. Brown cshould
especially ıke thank Slobodan Cureie: Judson Emerick, Richard Krautheimer, and
Ronald Malmstrom.

13 Ihe lack ot reliable SUrVEY ot Marıa 1n Trastevere, iındeed of ALLY modern
SUrVCY all, makes complete veriıficatiıon impossible, but SOME help 15 gıven by Letarouilly.
For example, hıs plan ot Marıa Edifıices, A& pl 327) he indıicates that the widcth ot
the Nave apparently measured between the paıred pilasters either end of the LLAaVC

colonnades 15 M. , Vespignanı’s plan, when measured wıth the module provided by
hıs scale and scaled 1 :100) represecNts precisely the Same distance between the Samne

LW poılnts.
Ihe discrepancy between Vespignanı’s centimeter an UuUurs 15 IMOST puzzlıng. Perhaps

iIt 15 elated the tact that 1n 1865-—69 the metr1c SYysStem W as sti11 relatıvely 11 (officıally
adopted 1n Italy only 1n an has NOL yer achieved Its modern standardızatıon (a 1CeW

standard W 4ds dopted the International Convention of 1875; ct Enciclopedia
ıtalıana, Rome, 1934, “Meftricı, sıstem1”, 12B)):
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MmMaYy Aave abandoned the plan AT thıs poınnt. In an Yy CasSC, it 15 certaınly NOLT

presentation p1ece, but ave een the architect’s working drawıng,
hıch he added details 45 they W GTE uncovered in the church Section lines

AVe een drawn In red longitudinally, through the center of the NAaVC, and
transversally, between the tourth and tıfth, Ahal the seventh an eighth paırs
of columns. No sect10n drawıngs could be tound 1in the Archive, however, 11LOT

15 there LHNOTE tinished versiıon of the plan. Perhaps such drawıngs WEeEeIC

HEViGT executed, perhaps they Uurvıve iın SOMEC other Roman archive. Until
they ATC found, the workıng CODPY, iıncomplete and ambiguous 4S IT 1S, 15 OUTL

MOST informative record of the nıneteenth-century discovert1es.
The plan depicts the fu 11 length of the present (1.e., twelfth-century)

NAaVC, wiıth 1fSs colonnades, trom the all AT the eXst the triumphal
arch, open1ıng into the ransept, AT the W est These walls and columns ave
een colored pale blue Oome of the of the origınal VeEMENT, 1N-
cludıng the “path” AT the westiern end, ATC iındicated iın pencıl. Everything
else the plan 15 under the OOr level of 18363 'These lower elements
appeared in everal SCr AUvd,; which the draftsman has distinguished by color.
Black, apparently denoting r1SINS walls, outlines the Jlarge ADSC tound under
the VE 4A5 ell AS the smaller OMNC below the south aisle. small column
ASsSeEe AT the right, between the tenth and eleventh columns of the north colon-
nade, 15 also colored black Foundations ATC indicated 1ın LW chades of SraYy
ark Sray colors the L-shaped colonnade hiıch extends eastward trom the
northern COM of the APSC, A ell 4A5 the symmetrical all the south, the
walls whıch reiurn from the inner columns of the C L’s” toward the APSC,
and the LW flights of which abut these return walls, climbing toward
the APDSC either sıde of central lacuna. lıghter chade of ZraYy t1nts the
oblong enclosure, wiıth ItSs LW rectangular protrus1ions, which begins, rough-
I SA the eleventh paır of AaVOC columns Aan: extends eastward almost
the mid-point of the ÜV Finally, third, st111 lıghter chade of gray indı-

what SCECEIN be pavıng STtONeS aligned wıth the retiurn walls of the
L-shaped colonnades, and of SICCH, apparently representing pavıng of

difterent kind, AapPpPCal AL the foot of the
Iwo precıincts, then, WE discovered ONEC AatOpP the other:

rectangular ONC, defined by the L-shaped colonnades and colored dark gray
the plan, and markedly oblong ONC, projecting tar Into the AaVC A

indicated by Vespignanı 1n mıiddle chade of Sray The latter enclosure
APPCAaIS ave een designed 1in correlation wıth the “Path” of the Cosma-
LESQUE avement, suggesting that I W a4As A hıgher, later level than the
tormer precıinct. hıs interpretation 15 corroborated by the tact that De
Rossı's descr1ıption of 1865, AT the VELY OUTSeEeT of the eXCavatıons, clearly
refers the oblong enclosure and NOL the colonnaded OTE

“ Now work has begun the avement, and under 1tSs surface the OUtL-

lınes of the precıinct of the schola ‘® and of the pulpıts commonly
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called ambos W GTE discovered; Aın the marble CICcCNS of the enclosure WEeEeTC

also found”
The “ambos” IMay be SCCH iın the protrusıons trom the oblong precinct

remarked above: longer OE m.) the south sıde, between
the eighth an eleventh columns ot the NAaVvC,; SUuppOrt pulpit and LW

flights of 9 an chorter toundatıon m.) the north, tor
ectern A siıngle sta1ırway

In hıs repOort of the followıng yCar, 1866, De Rossı mentioned several
additional finds ın Marıa iın Irastevere, including the ADSC of the PTrE-
twelfth-century basılıca, the remaıns of high platform wıthın the APDPSC,
Aı ascending the altar that stood upOonN the platform 16 He assıgned
the remaıns LW builldıng campaıgns: the origınal toundation of the church
under Pope Julıus (  9 an the remodelling of the SANCLUaArYy under
Pope Gregory (  &,  b documented in the Liber Pontificalıis. 'To the
second phase De Rossı attrıbuted the platform, the StePS, and the schola
_ the tirst phase, apparently, the APSC and gyeometrıc
of multi-colored marbles, which INa y be represented 1n the marked
by Vespignanı 1ın

The archıtect’s plan clearly depicts the ıtems of De Rossı’s de-
scr1ıption, but ın relationshıp which diısproves hıs interpretation of the
stratigraphy. The StE  9 tor example, MUST belong earlıer eErAdum than
the schola9because they contınue under Its foundatıons abut the
retiurn walls of the L-shaped colonnades. The schola ıtself could
hardly be trom the tıme of Gregory I fOr, A ave SCCIL, 1T W 4S built
in conjunction wıth the Cosmatesque of the present basilica, which
replaced the origınal church in the twelfcth CENTLUFY, under Pope Innocent I1
(  K Though inıtially puzzlıng, De Rossı's misınterpretation 15 quıte
understandable, an easıly explaıned with the a1ıd ot the diary of Canon
Cressedi. Many of the finds mentioned iın the Bullettino of 1866 WEeTIC also
noted by Cressedi1ı in of November c ancıent vement,
StE  9 | pıeces of] paınted plaster, column 4SsSe ın S1EyM » 17 These disco-

14 De Rossı, “Basilica dı S. Marıa”, 1865, “Ora O: INAanNnO al pavı-
mMEeNTLO; l pıano dı EeSSÖO SOIT1O S! le LrACcCe del recınto della schola
Cantorum, de1 pulpiti volgarmente appellatı amboni; SsSONo statı rinvenutı pluteı
marmore1ı dı quel recıinto.” C+t+. Cressedi, Dıarıo, 18 Febbraio 1865, quoted SUDYA,

15 Measurements have been converted modern centimeters, ct. SUDTA,
16 De Rossı, “OCcOoPperte”., 1866, . Sotto ı1 grande CO delV’attuale basılıca

edificata da NNOCENZO l rinvenuto ı] princ1p10 dell’abside spettante alla basılıca
—A  p1u antıca. dinanzı quell’absıde S1 vVegSONO le vestig1a del triıbunale cOstrulto da
Gregor10 CO  —$ gradını pCI ascendere all’altare

17 Cressedi, Dıarıo, Novembre 1866 “Neı due mes1i trascorsı S1 SOoONo proseguitı
lavorı nel pavımento della LLAaVC mag.“, tolto ıntıeramente l’antıiıco MOSAa1CO 1n pıetra, ed
esegu1to Zzuası o1d totalmente ı1 vespalo. Nello TECSSO ı1 grande TWTCO S1 SONO
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verıes MUSLT Aave resulted from extensıion of the orıgınal EeXCAVAtlOoNs
deeper wiıthiın, and arther outside the precinct of the schola Seeing
the newly revealed disappear into the lower toundation walls of the
schola, De Rossı assumed that they Were of the S”U”dInNeE SErUuCILUre An
therefore of single building campaıgn; the relation of the the
L-shaped colonnades could NOLT AVve een suspected. Indeed, It 15 obvious
from the plan that the Nnatfure of the colonnades could Aave been fully er-

taiıned only by destroying the toundations of the later precıinct. At the tiıme
of De Rossı'’s Visıt, ın the tall of 1866 18 such destruction had taken
place; ot the L-shaped colonnades, only ONE column 2SsSEe (doubtless the ONe
colored black by Vespignanı) had een discovered, and ıts tunction A part
of chancel enclosure 1ad NOLT yeLt been perceived. The earliıer enclosure
remaıned Jargely hidden tor AIXS. When It W 45 tınally unearthed, probably
in 1869, De Rossı SAdaVC IT public notıce; perhaps he Sa DEr

The of the eXCAaVvAatl1Oons atfter 1866 15 documented by Cressed..
In February, 186/ he recorded the discovery of frescoed image of Aga-
tha C: the fons oleı the miraculous tountaın of o1l, the sıte of which 15
venerated 1n the AaVC immediately 1ın {ront, and slightly the north of the
altar 1 Cressedi remarked that al that tiıme the eXCAavatıons had attained
considerable depth. Almost exactly VCal later, he noted that the whıiıte
marble matrıx for the He had een aıd in haltf of the NAaVC,
presumably the eAastern half, since later entrıies iındıcate that the western en
W as stil] ODCNMN for digging 20 When thıs W 4as made, work the PaVC-
ment W 4S stalled tor lack oft materı1als. It had resumed, “cebbene lentamente”,
by June of 1869, when Cressedi made hıs last record of archeological dis-
COverı1es 1n Marıa:

scopertı antıco pavımento, gradın1, intonachı pitturatli, un.: base dı colonna al SU!  C

(sı credono appartenere alla Basılıca, quale riedificata da Giuli0), di
l’Architetto ha rilevato la planta Fragments of plaster wiıth painted decoratıon WEeIC

Iso mentioned by De Rossı (-Scoperte, 1866, 76), who declared them comparable
paıntıings discovered 1n the contession of Marco, remodelled, ıke Marıa, by
Gregory The column A4SE remarke: by Cressedi may have een Part of the “costruz1ıo0n1ı
lateralı” noted by De Rossı 1n conjunction with the AaPDSC; he apparently believed them

be Part of the fourth-century buildıng.
The notıice of the 1866 discoverıies aAapPCars 1ın the Sept.-Oct. 1Ssue of the Bullet-

NO ; the date ot theır n 1n the Diıarıo 1, already stated, November
19 Cressedi, Dıarıo, Febbraio 1867 C ‚ Vicıno al Fons-Olei1 nello S1 rinvenne

unl imagıne dı Agata tresco nell’intonaco dı alcunı matton1. Essendo bel lavoretto
fatta rıportare ı1 dıpıinto Su tela l not1ı che ı1 plano antıco della Bas

era dı molto S  p1u basso.” do NOL know what became of the image after 1ts detachment:
It oes NOLT SCCI1 be the church, but it may SUrvıve somewhere else 1n the CIty.

)() Ibid., Febbra1i0 1868 “Ne1 mes1 decorsı SONO statı collocatiı lastronı dı
bianco, quali debbe ESSCIC 1NCassato ı1 OSAa1CO all’Alessandrına, pCI la meta incırca

NAave mMag., da qualche .PO, mancando alcunı lastron1ı necessar1l, 1l lavoro
SOSPCSO
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“ In the eXxCcavatıons otf the aV the foundatıions of the lacuna ] Wer«ec

found It W as large rectangle, which extended 1n front ot the ancıent tr1-
bune, also ocated AL approximately the SAaTINEC level;, behind which TAan the
all of the old APDSC (a plan of al ot thıs has een drawn by the Architect
Vespignanı)” 21

The descr1ıption 15 an rather puzzled; the lacuna left where
Aallle chould APPCAar5 that Cressedi W a4s NOT yeLr certaın how ıden-
tify the newly discovered ur But the “Jarge rectangle”, think, Ca  =

only be the ATCAa enclosed by the L-shaped colonnades, an the foundations
be those of the colonnades themselves. Contusıion OVeT the function of

the colonnades 15 understandable, viven the previously held assumption that
the SANCTIUAFY W 45 preceded by the schola LOTUM. Perhaps Vespignanı
himselt W as unable decipher the interrelationsh1ps of the SUCCESSIVE Strata

ONEC another, an the trıbune 1n the aPSC, an thıs explaıns why hıs plan
W as left unfinished A precisely this poıint. Lack of tıme tor additional explo-
ratıons MUST also Aave een tactor ın hıs aılure define INOTE clearly the
remaıns neAreSst the AaPDPSC., The continued ıtSs glacıal expansıon,
covering the excavatıon sıte or wiıth ventilatory substructure (called
“vespa1l0” 1n the accounts), then with white marble matrıx, and finally
wıth mMOSsSAaıC inlay. By 1871 the foundatıions WEeEeTC invisıble An completely
inaccessible, 4S they AT today

Between them, Vespignanı AT Cressedi o1ve pıcture of the archeology
oft Marıa 1in Irastevere quıte difterent trom that transmitted by De Rossı,
but perfectly CONSrUuCNT wıth the iıntormatıon provıded by the lıterary SOUFCCS,
ULZ., the uLtade of the Liber Pontificalis. Of the pre-twelfth-century basılıca,
the niıneteenth-century eXCAavatlıons revealed: the maın AaDSC, slıghtly

than the present AaVeC but exactly the Saine AaX1S; platform OT

trıbune iıllıng thıs APSC, preceded by colonnaded SCICECIMN an equipped with
StEPS; mınor AaPSC, the AX1S of the present south a1isle. The disposıtion otf
the strongly that the original church W 4S two-aisled basılica
iıke the present ONC, an of exactly the Same wiıdth;: indeed, it liıkely
that the foundatıions of the twelfth-century colonnades and aıisle walls rest

directly those of the fourth-century basılica. The schola
discovered 1n 1865 did NOLT eX1St 1n the original urch but W ds Part of the
NCW , twelfth-century buildıng; it 1S, 1n fact, structiure of Lype commonly
found 1n Roman churches of that period. The extant example 1n Clemente,

Ibid., Giugno 1869 “Prosegue ebbene lentamente il lavoro mMmOSAa1CO nel
pavımento Nello la Nave mag. turono rinvenuti fondamentı della [lacuna
Era grande rettangolo, che S1 stendeva innanzı ”antıca Tribuna sıtuata nche essa reSSO

POCO allo STESSO livello, dietro la quale Sirava l INUTO dell’abside antıco (Dı
dall’Architetto Vespignanı riılevata la planta).”
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wıth the ectern the north and the pulpit the south siıde of the precıinct,provıdes especıially close parallel e
It 15 unlikely that INan y of the elements uncovered ın the nıneteenth

CENTLUFY actually dated trom the fourth-century basılica, however taıthfully
they mMa y ave reflected Lts S17 e Aan! plan. The maın apse certaınly reproduced
the or1ıgınal, for It accommodated the chancel built Into the tourth-century
ADSC under Pope Gregory 1 but the all ıtself W 4s reconstruction datiıng
trom the pontificate of Benedict 111 (  —  9 mentioned 1n the Liber
Pontificalis 23 The 5dInNe PasSSage provıdes Fermınus ante GUECM tor the small
southern APDSC, the construction of which 15 undocumented 24 While It could
conceivably Aave belonged the oriıginal basilica, It would find INOTEe
comtortable CONTLEXT 1 Carolingian Rome, when churches wıth ONEC LW
mınor WEeTITIC fairly COINIMNON 20 Certainly Carolingian Anı the altar plat-
form, StEPS, and colonnades, whiıch represecht the “operosam decoramque
restructionem” of Gregory 1LV(Only the fragment of patterned

AT the toot of the altar INa Yy be fourth-century survıval, but
1t might equally ell be nınth-century tacsımıle made after the construction
of the HE chancel.

Pope Gregory’s chancel 15 glowingly described 1n the
Wırth skilltuland accustomed zeal, applyıng hıs eftorts wıth innermost

dılıgence, havıng begun the wondrous work, he completed 1t excellently. For
atter digging Out the SeCret CaVıty, raısıng the atoresaıd bodies l of opes
Callixtus and Cornelijus An the presbyter Calepodius, prevıously buried in
the south aısle ] wıth UtMmMOST FEVECTENCC, he hıd |them , placıng |them] honor-
ably 1n the estern pPart of thiıs SAadmInle church, that 15 wıthın the APDSC; around
whiıch bodies] addıng AIl ot the possible INASdSs, erecting the trıbune
adorned wıth wondertul StONES, he decorated Gl Moreover, provıdıng
connection the wondrous dor of the hıdden ONCS, he fit 1n confession,
facıng CAaST, under the r1SINg bases of the altar; conspicuously adorning [the
altardl he built ] 1ın honor of the Holy Mother of God Mary GVGT

Vırgın, the rISINS of the beautıitful work. In front of WhiCh he

D Junyent, Titolo dı San Clemente in Roma (Studı dı antıichitä cristi1ana, VIÜ),
KRome, 1992 211—-215, figs 67-—69; ct the plan 193

AA L’Abb Duchesne, ed., Le Liıber Pontificalıis, IL, Parıs, 1892, HA e Prae-
fatus beatissımus papa 1n eccles1a beatae De1 gyenNtr1IC1S SCEIMPETJUEC VIrg1inıs Marıae
QUAaAC ponıtur Tyberıiım, absiıdam alorem . Ju«C 1n rulnıs posıta, novıter qu
fundamentis facıens, ad melıorem erexıt. STaLum

Ct. The qualification “ma10r ” naturally implies the ex1istence of 1G =-

spondıing “ bsıs mınor”, perhaps “bsıdes mınores”.
C wıth LW'! mınor AD  > S. Angelo 1n Pescheria (probably ot ÜE Rıchard

Krautheimer, Corpus Basılıcarum, I) atıcan City, OS HS Marıa 1n Cosmedin
(772—-795; rautheimer-Frankl-Corbett, Corpus Basılıcarum, K atıcan City; 1962
DL Marıa 1n Oomnıca (817-824; ıbid., 308 E wıth ONeE 8 Lorenzo in
Lucına (772-795 Ka ıbid., 159 ffa S 183)
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built trom the toundatıons presbyterium oft ample area and elaborate work-
manshıp, hıch the north sıde he added mMALYrONEUM,, enclosed 411
around wıth stones” z6

Wırcth Vespignanı’s plan, and the ot De Rossı, thıs description Can be
better understood Aan! considerably amplıfled. Pope Gregory’s trıbune, Or

podıum, MUST ave Alled the entıire APSC and apparently also projected SOTI11C-

what Into the NAaVC, since De Rossı mentıions both “massıve construction
On tront otdeep wiıthıin the ATCAa of the apse” and “vestiges of the trıbune

[the]apse” Z The ateral lımıts of the projecting portion AT probably defined
by the LW walls runnıng trom the ınner extremıiıtıes of the colonnades back
toward the ADSC, while ıts orward eXtient 15 delimited by the hıch abut
these SAadille walls Ihe of the podium INay explaın why the
toundatıons ot the schola CAantorum extend only the eleventh paır of
columns 1ın the tweltth-century NAaVC, tor W eSst ot thıs poınt the schola could
ave rested VC securely the “maxımae molis aggerem ” of the podium
iıtself.

The altar INaYy ave stood Al the head of the StEDS, O AS suggested by the
phrase “1inter CONSUrgeENLES eradus , perhaps Janding wıth addıitional

(not preserved) behind iIt It Aave een placed partly wiıthin
the APSC and partly the proJjection of the podiıum; the plan, faınt pencıl
lınes ındicate large rectangle ın precisely this posıt1ıon, wıth four small
circles, conceivably representing the iımprints of ciıboriıum columns, AT the
GCGOT MI 25 In ll likelihood the AA of the ADSC behind the altar contained
SOTINEC kınd ot seatıng tfor the clergy, but SOUIFCC, lıterary archeological,
provides direct eviıdence tor chıs supposıtıion. Beneath the altar W 4S the
confession, the burıjal chamber of the papal relics. 'The “secret cCavıty”
(clandestinum antrum) ot the has een generally interpreted 45

allusion CIYPTU, hıch would ave extended underneath the altar and

I6 Duchesne, ed., P} 1n C Religiosus ıdem papa solertı solıtoque stud10
G ıintıma iındustrı1a OPCTam adhıbens, mirıfıcum OPUS 1iNnCOanNs, optıme consumma Yvıt. Nam
eftosso clandestino n  9 Cu reverentla praefata SAanCcCcia COTrPOIA elevans, 1ın
occıdentalı plaga eiusdem aecclesiae, hoc EST 1n ambitu abside, honorifice collocando
occuluıt; Cırca QqUuaC QqQquam maxımae molis ABSICcHAalNs aggere m, Comptum MIirı1s lapıdibus
triıbunal erıgens decoravıt. Supra qu«c contessıonem respicıentem ad solis m1rı odoris
celaturarum Ornata compagıne COaptavıt ınfra CONSUrgenNtes siquıdem bases altarıs, quod
M1rı metr1 Ornatus modulo argento perspicue COMECNS, in honore Sanciae Deı genetri1c1s
Marıae SCEMPCI virg1nıs, elato scılicet pri10r1, erex1ıt inter CONSUrgECNTES pulchrı operı1s gradus.
nte quod presbiterium amplı ambiıtus oOperosı operı1s fundiıtus construxıt, Cu1 SCPDICM1-
trionalı plaga lapıdibus Cırca septum matroneum adposuılt.”

De Rossı, "SCOperte, 1866, /6; “Gregor10 cOstrul l triıbunale acendo
ABSCIC axımae molis ... u€ESTLO aASSCIC sSt1mo la cOostruzıone Mass1ıcC1a, che
apparısce nel profondo dell’area semicircolare perpendicolo 11 o dell’antico
altare.” GE the PasSsSasc quoted SUDTA, a

25 Thıs be the best interpretation of the rectangle, althoug It might Iso
represent portion otf the demolished av
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trıbune provıde AaCCEeSS the contession 20 However, neıither Vespignanı
19(0)8 Cressedi Z1ves an y sıgn that W discovered, an re-examınıngthe COXTs It APPCAars likely that clandestinum Antrum should NOLT be referred

the APDSC AL all, but the INCONSPICUOUS locatıon ın the south aisle whence
the relıcs WTr exhumed. Moreover, had there een ot the standard
Carolingian semı1annular Lype (such 45 that built by Gregory 1ın Marco) 50
the contession would Aave een OPCN AT the WEST, whereas the explicitlydescribes It 4A5 “respicıen [s Jad solis”. hus would postulate that the
nınth-century chancel had CIYPDCT, an that the contession W 4as small,
unvısıtable > wıth the only “ connection the wondrous odor of the
hıdden ones” being indirect, through wındow (fenestella) 1ın the podiumunder the altar.

The presbyterium otf the should probably be identihed A the Aare2
A level enclosed by the L-shaped colonnades: that 1S, the rectangular
precincts either sıde of the altar and’ and tormal approach the
SANCLUALY created by extending the colonnades eastward in front of the
The beginnings of these parallel extensions aAapPPCar Vespignanı’s planunderneath the schola5but there 15 indication of theır eAastern
termınatıons, hıch WT apparently NOLT traced öl Nothing the plan

rePpresent the MALironeuUm whiıch, the evıdence of the Pa should ave
een tound the north sıde of the presbyterium. 1If OUr prevıous hypotheses
A GOÖOTTeCr ULZ., that the AaAfea wıthın the L-shaped colonnades 15 the
presbyterium, and that the fourth-century basılica W as divided into ave aın
aisles by LOWS of the sıte of the present ave colonnades then the
MAaALironeuUm IMUST ave stood in the north aısle, tor there 15 tor 1t
ın the aV

The “wonderful stones” wıth hıch Pope Gregory decorated hıs trıbune
AT probably the cancellı that stil] adorn the basılica Da Ya, /a, b)
Innocent 11 MUST 2ve consıdered them equally pPrec10us, tor he reused them
1in hıs scholaSwhence, AS described above, they found their WaYy 1Into
the and ultımately, ın the COUTrSe of the nıneteenth-century LC-

modellıng, 1into the walls of the church porch, where they INa Y st1i1] be SGCM)
In the the A assoc1ated only wıth the trıbune, an SOTINE of
them doubtless stood 4A5 (CORGENS the edge of that platform; others, how-
CVCTI, WEeTC probably inserted between the columns of the presbyterium, for

Q B, Cecchelli, Marıa ın Trastevere, I Krautheimer-Corbett-Frankl, Corpus
Basılicarum, IV Duchesne P} IU B} AaSSUuIMNCcs wiıithout alluding

the clandestinum antrum, whiıle De Rossı (“Scoperte”, 1866, /6) 4sSsOC1ates the antrum
wiıth the AaPDSC, but does NOLT specifically ıdentify it

C Krautheimer-Frankl-Corbett, Corpus Basiılicarum, IL, 238—7240
These portions of the colonnades WOU. have een discovered 1n 1569, and by that

time anı further eastward pursult otf theır toundations would probably have een blocked
by the 1E Cr D  ‘9 0®
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there 15 strıkıng simılarıty of mMeASsuUurements between SOTINC of the EXTAanNtT
cancellı and the iıntercolumnıatıons Vespignanı’s plan. For example,
between the northwest column base, agaınst the APSC, and the exXt ONC,
colored black, the distance 15 nearly 180 CM AmM the Parapet represented
1n Tat 15 180.5 long 33 Between the black 4se and 1ts neıghbor the
CAST, Aat the CORNET of the 1B there Al 6 195.5 CIN. y the beautiful, but vVeLYyY
damaged acanthus panel iın Tat S 15 presently 191.5 long, but MUSLT
ad: ALr least 25 (GI19- COMPENSATE tor 1tSs cshorn rıght border 34 Between the
COTNECLT A4aSse A ItSs neighbor the south, there AL 136 The panel ın
'Tat 15 NO 129,5 Jong, but I LOO, has een deprived of border, thıs
tıme the left Originally It MUST Aave een Ar least 135 long 30 Such close
correspondences Cal hardly be accıdental.

Bıt by bıt ralırly complete ımage of Marıa)s nınth-century chancel
Into fOcus. An apsıdal podium wıth eastward projection elevated

the altar A least ONEC above the Av OOr 36 The contessional wındow
W as Set 1n the eAastern tace of the projection, below the altar and between the
LW {ıghts of which approached it trom the ANGCa The entıire podıum
(“trıbune”) W a4s surrounded by nave-level precincts (the presbyterium),
enclosed by parapeted colonnades. 'Ihe colonnades INaYy Aave carrıed
trabeatıion, 4A5 tor example 1n Marıa Maggıore 57 0)8 arches 4S iın Marıa 1in
omnıca 38 . there 15 evidence either WaYy The of thıs pıcture 1S,
of COUISC, dependent Jarge degree upPON the CO  SS of the inter-
pretatiıon of Vespignanı’s drawıng ere presented. Although i leaves

Actually, 178 5 All mMeAaAsurements ATIC yıven 1n modern equivalents; ct. D  D
and I1l.

33 The ateral borders ATC unfortunately CUL off by the photograph, but the panel 15
complete all sıdes CEXCECDL the bottom; 185 All of the cancellı WEeIiICc trimmed

unıtorm height of when they WIGTE walled 1nto the porch 1n the nıneteenth
CENLUTY ; INan y WOIC Iso trımmed the sıdes thıs time.

New archeological aın documentary eviıdence 11l requıre SOIMNE reconsıderatıon of
the chronology established tor the cancellı, “nach ınnerer Wahrscheinlichkeit”, by Rudolt
Kautzsch 1n 1939 ( Dae römische Schmuckkunst 1n Stein VO: bıs Z Jahrhundert”,
Römuisches ahrbuch für Kunstgeschichte, HAJ 1959 1—73). For thıs reason wiıll NOLT
recıte hıs datıngs tor the panels mentioned here.

34 The border visıble the far right ot the photograph elongs the adjacent panel.
35 The Jength of 129.5 has een measured A4ACT1OS5S5 the tOP of the panel, which W as

CUuL the left sıde accommodate the trame of the door 1Nnto the south aısle ot the
church It 15 discussed by Kautzsch, “Schmuckkunst”,

The staırways cshown by Vespignanı have five P each, establishing 1nımum
elevatıon ot 100‚ but the D INnay have een ‘D, there IMNay have been INOTIe

ot them
37 Chancel erected by Pope Paschal Y  > Krautheimer-Corbett-Frankl,; Corpus

Basılicarum, JAn / 31 I 52 fa reconstruction
38 Agaın remodellıing of Paschal M6 c$. Krautheimer-Frankl-Corbett, Corpus Basılt-

‘9 H. 39720
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number of en1gmatıc features unexplained 3 beljieve that this readıng 15
essentially sound. It 15 iın full accord wıth the prevıously known lıterary
evıdence tor the history and archeology of Marıa 1ın Trastevere, and It
readıly iıllumınates that evıdence in LUurn. The LOrm, then, of Pope Gregory
installation ell enough established. Its function 111 be the subject of

future study 40

39 Most signıficant: the Varıo0us foundation walls, 1n LW chades ot SIaYy, eAst of the
mınor AaPDPSEC 1n the south aisle; number ot taınt lınes 1n the re“ ot the maın AapSC;, the
SQUar«c drawn 1n the estern Part of the north presbyterium enclosure; the irregular wıidth
of the nınth-century P

An ral SUMMAarYy ot the foregoing arguments W Aas presented T: the annual meeting
of the Society of Architectural Hıstorians 1n Aprıil, 1974 An abstract of that ecture AaDPDCAaIs
1n the Dociety’s Journal tor October, 1974 vol AAIIL, 225—226).


